RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN : COURT OF APTS 44-2015 DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

2014AP2666-CR, 2014AP2667-CR Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case #: 11-CF4809

12-CF-69

v.

GARY ABDULLAH SALAAM, Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE REBECCA DALLET PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Donna Odrzywolski State Bar No. 1031216

Donna Odrzywolski Attorney at Law 6650 W. State St. Unit D. #234 Wauwatosa, WI 53213 Phone: (414) 748-1561 Fax: (877) 348-7407

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Issues
Position on Oral Argument and Publication
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts
Argument
Conclusion
Form and Length Certification
Certification of Service and Mailing
Certification of Appendix
Certification of Compliance with Rule 809.19(12)
Appendix
Appendix Table of Contents

ISSUES

Did the trial court improperly join and fail to sever the recklessly endangering safety and felon in possession of a firearm case with the felony intimidation of a witness case?

The trial court answered no.

Was the evidence admitted at trial sufficient to support the jury's finding on the intimidation of witness charges that Mr. Salaam was charged with a felony in connection with a proceeding for that felony?

The trial court answered yes.

Did the admission of Elizabeth Brunner's testimony regarding her receipt of a nonemergency call alleged to be from K.H. reporting that she received a call from Mr. Salaam and the purported contents of that call violate the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and the Wisconsin Rules of Evidence?

The trial court answered no.

Was Mr. Salaam afforded his due process right to present a defense when he was prohibited from introducing evidence relating to T.A.'s delusional and paranoid thought processes at trial?

The trial court denied Mr. Salaam's motions to admit relevant evidence relating to T.A.'s delusional and paranoid thought processes pursuant to <u>Shiffra/Green</u> which severely limited Mr. Salaam's ability to cross-examine T.A.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 7, 2011, Defendant-Appellant Gary A. Salaam (hereinafter "Mr. Salaam") was charged by criminal complaint in 2011CF4809 with one count of First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, as an act of domestic abuse, as a repeater, in violation of Wis. Stats. 941.30(1), 939.50(3)(f), 968.075(1)(a), and 939.62(1)(c), and one count of Felon in Possession of a Firearm as a repeater, in violation of Wis. Stat. 941.29(2), 939.50(3)(g), and 939.62(1)(b). [R.3] The criminal complaint alleged that on

or about September 19, 2011, Mr. Salaam fired shots at T.A., his former live-in girlfriend, in the area of 13th and Arthur Streets in Milwaukee. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Salaam appeared initially on November 10, 2011. [R.40] Cash bond was set in the amount of \$10,000, and Mr. Salaam was ordered to have no contact with T.A., A.R., K.H., A.P., or K.M. [R.40,6]

On November 17, 2011, at the preliminary hearing in 2011CF4809, the State indicated that it had perfected personal service on the alleged victim, T.A., and requested a body attachment on T.A., who failed to appear. [R.41] The State further indicated that it believed it had evidence of felony intimidation of a witness by Mr. Salaam via a series of three telephone calls made on November 15, 2011 from the Milwaukee County House of Correction to T.A. in violation of the Court's no contact order in which Mr. Salaam was alleged to have encouraged T.A. to avoid appearance at the preliminary hearing. Id.

These allegations formed the factual basis for the criminal complaint in 2012CF69. After a continued preliminary hearing held on November 30, 2011, at which T.A. appeared as a hostile witness for the State, Mr. Salaam was bound over for trial and an information was filed. [R.43, 11] Mr. Salaam was arraigned on December 13, 2011 and entered a plea of not guilty. [R.44]

On January 6, 2012, Mr. Salaam was formally charged in 2012CF69 by criminal complaint with three counts of Felony Intimidation of a Witness, in violation of Wis. Stat. 940.37(7) and 939.50(3)(g). [R.2] Mr. Salaam appeared initially in that case on January 17, 2012. [R.59] Cash bond was set at \$10,000, and Mr. Salaam was ordered to have no contact with T.A., A.R., K.H., and A.P. [R.59,7] A preliminary hearing was

held on February 13, 2012, Mr. Salaam was bound over for trial and an information was filed.¹ [R.60, 61, 8]

On February 14, 2012, Mr. Salaam was arraigned in 2012CF69 and entered a plea of not guilty. [R.60] The State moved to consolidate 2011CF4809 and 2012CF69, which the Court granted. <u>Id</u>. On February 27, 2014, Mr. Salaam moved for relief from prejudicial joinder of the two cases; the Court heard argument on that motion and denied it via oral ruling on April 2, 2012. ^{2,3} [R.9, 63]

On May 2, 2012, Attorney Jeffrey W. Jensen filed a notice of appearance on behalf of Mr. Salaam. [R.14] On May 3, 2012, he filed a motion to admit other acts evidence pursuant to 904.04(2), and on June 15, 2012 filed motion requesting an order of the release of T.A.'s medical and mental health records pursuant to <u>State v. Shiffra</u>. [R.16, 18] The Court held a hearing on the motions and denied both on June 28, 2012, finding them irrelevant. [R.68]

On October 8, 2012, the parties filed cross motions requesting that the Court review and rule on the relevance of Children's Court records relating to a child in common between Mr. Salaam and T.A. [R.23-24] The Court, after an in camera review of the documents, denied Mr. Salaam's motion to allow the Children's Court documents to be used by Mr. Salaam at trial, finding them irrelevant. [R. 60:45]

_

¹ Due to judicial substitution and Milwaukee County judicial assignment rules, both cases were eventually assigned to the Hon. Ellen Brostrom from February 14, 2012 until August DATE, 2012, at which time the cases were assigned to the Hon. Rebecca Dallet.

² A final pretrial was held on April 24, 2013. [R.65] Mr. Salaam's trial counsel at the time, Glen Kulkowski, improperly filed a notice of alibi outside the time limits, and the trial court barred Mr. Salaam from calling the witness at trial. Mr. Salaam requested new counsel and requested modification of his communication privileges to allow him to retain private counsel, both requests were denied. Attorney Jensen was retained to represent Mr. Salaam and the jury trial set for May 8, 2012 was adjourned, with Mr. Salaam waiving his right to a speedy trial. [R.66]

³ The State filed a conditional Motion to admit T.A.'s testimonial statements made at the preliminary hearing under the forfeiture by wrongdoing on April 27, 2013. Because T.A. appeared at and testified at trial, the Court did not rule on this motion.

Mr. Salaam's consolidated cases were tried before a jury on January 22-25, 2013.⁴ [R.74-81] On January 25, 2013, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts. [R.28, 29: 33-35]. On April 19, 2013, Mr. Salaam was sentenced in 11CF4809 on count one to 7 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence, and on count two to 4 years initial confinement and one year extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence. [R.35] In case 12CF69, Mr. Salaam was sentenced on all counts to three years initial confinement and one year extended supervision, concurrent to all other counts but consecutive to any other sentence. [R.39] Trial counsel filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on May 1, 2013. [R.34, 40] Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Salaam for any postconviction proceedings on June 19, 2013, and filed a Notice of Appeal on behalf of Mr. Salaam in both cases on November 13, 2014. [R.38, 57] This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State moved to consolidate Mr. Salaam's cases for trial and Mr. Salaam opposed the motion and further moved to sever the first degree recklessly endangering safety count from the felon in possession of firearm count in 11CF4809, arguing that the jury would necessarily hear as part of the case on the felon in possession count that Mr. Salaam had a prior felony conviction, which would be inadmissible against him if he chose not to testify in his own defense on the recklessly endangering safety count and would improperly prejudice him in that case. [R.9, 12] Mr. Salaam also moved to sever the 2012 intimidation case from the 2011 case, arguing that the cases were not similar and there was no overlapping evidence in the 2011 and 2012 cases. Id. The Court ruled

⁴ Trial was adjourned on December 10, 2012 due to the illness of the victim, T.A. [R.74]

that the counts were properly joined for trial. With respect to the felon in possession and the recklessly endangering safety counts, the Court held:

This is one act or transaction. The first degree recklessly endangering is not an unrelated felony. It is alleged that Mr. Salaam committed that felony, with a gun, while being a felon in possession. [...] The fact is they are one transaction. It is not an unrelated felony. And where there is this one act or transaction, I think that the prejudice to the defendant has got to be quite high to override the public's interest in the efficiency and in not basically trying a case twice. I mean all of the same evidence would come in to prove Mr. Salaam to be a felon in possession other than the fact of the prior felony conviction, and so the overlap is enormous. I don't think that the prejudice to the defendant is so substantial as to merit severance.

[R.63:19-20] With respect to the 2011 and 2012 cases, the Court concluded:

[T]he evidence of intimidation goes directly to consciousness of guilt. The jury may decide that they don't think it is consciousness of guilt. It is certainly relevant to that. It is certainly admissible to that. [...] Effectively,when I look at how you would have to try either of the cases, they immediately bleed into each other [...]. The old case would be admissible in the new, because the jury would need to know what was the intimidation about. The new case is admissible in the old for the reasons that I just stated.

Id. Mr. Salaam further requested a pretrial ruling allowing him to proffer evidence that T.A.'s mental health issues and drug abuse caused her to have a paranoid perspective; specifically, the defense sought to introduce evidence that Mr. Salaam's landlord witnessed T.A. lose her temper and break into the apartment she shared with Mr. Salaam, for the purpose of showing that the witness had a habit of reacting to separation from Mr. Salaam with a loss of temper and erratic, paranoid behavior. [R.16] The Court denied the motion:

I don't even see how it is relevant. [...] I don't think that it relates to the facts or a proposition that's of consequence in the determination of the action. I don't think it has any probative value -- or it's very limited, and as a result it's really, just in my opinion, an effort to smear [T.A.'s] character in front of the jury.

[R.68:14-15] Moreover, Mr. Salaam requested that the Court order T.A.'s mental health and drug treatment records to be disclosed to the Court for in camera review pursuant to Shiffra, alleging specifically that in March 2011 he personally observed delusional, erratic behavior on the part of T.A. that he attributed to drug use, and that her mother, K.M., had similar concerns about T.A.'s mental health and paranoia which she attributes to an excessive drug habit, that he personally had observed her drug use, that she told na number of people that she ran a restaurant, and that she was receiving treatment for drug and alcohol abuse and refused to take prescription medication for mental health treatment. [R.68:24] In denying the motion for in camera inspection, the Court held:

There are multiple third party witnesses that claim to have also seen these events, including A.R., K.H., and A.P. It was her car that was parked in the area and was struck by a bullet, and she also heard multiple gunshots. Officer Regner observed a bullet hole. [....]

So if in fact there are all of these third party witnesses -- or at least witnesses and corroborating evidence, it would really undercut the defense assertion that it was all made up out of paranoia or a desire to get back at Mr. Salaam or was actually a delusion, which makes it very unlikely that anything in her mental health records would have any reasonable likelihood to contain information necessary to the determination of guilt or innocence, so I will deny the Shiffra motion.

[R. 73:51] Finally, Mr. Salaam requested that the Court conduct an in-camera review of Children's Court records pertaining to a CHIPS petition regarding Mr. Salaam's child with T.A. and allow admission of a number of admissions made by T.A. relating to her perceptions of Mr. Salaam in order to show that T.A.'s perception of Mr. Salaam was subject to delusional, erratic thinking. [R.24, 26] In denying the defense motion, the Court noted:

I'm not going to allow the use of the records. As I said before, I did review them. While I think they certainly contain information about other days and the actions of this victim on other days related to the child and related to the Court and

related to this other CHIPS case I don't think there is very much relevance. I think there is a lot of danger or prejudice here on the ability to really focus on the issues and to take the jury on some kind of sidetracking[.]

[R. 73:51]

The morning of trial, the State indicated that it intended to proffer to the jury testimony from Elizabeth Brunner, a 911 dispatcher, relating to a call she received from K.M., T.A.'s mother, relating to a telephone call K.M. received from a male voice purported to be Mr. Salaam. [R.76:4-28] K.M. had been subpoenaed but was an out of state witness and had not appeared; the State intended to offer Ms. Brunner's testimony in lieu of K.M.'s testimony regarding a call she purportedly received from Mr. Salaam. <u>Id</u>. The defense objected, citing numerous hearsay and foundation problems. Id.

As an offer of proof, the State offered the following: Elizabeth Brunner testified that she was a dispatcher and telecommunicator for the Milwaukee Police Department and on September 19, 2011 at approximately 6:03 P.M. she received a call from a K.M. from the city of Jefferson, Wisconsin on the non-emergency line. Ms. Brunner testified that K.M. indicated that she was concerned for her daughter, T.A., because she, K.M., had received a call from Mr. Salaam within the last 20 minutes wherein he told K.M. that if she didn't have T.A. call him within two hours he wouldn't miss next time. She indicated that she entered the information regarding this telephone call into a CAD sheet, which she was using to refresh her recollection. [R. 80:6-13]

Mr. Salaam objected to the admission of the CAD report as well as Ms. Brunner's testimony on the following grounds: (1) that the State had not laid a proper foundation that the caller to K.M. was in fact Mr. Salaam or that K.M. was in fact the caller to Ms. Brunner; (2) that admitting the call from K.M. without K.M.'s availability for cross-

examination violated the Confrontation Clause; and (3) that the statements were inadmissible hearsay. Id.

In allowing the CAD report and the testimony of Ms. Brunner, the Court held:

I am analyzing this on a number of levels and the first, Confrontation Clause, that is Crawford and the case that stems from Crawford. The real question is, and Davis is the main case, is whether or not this was a testimonial statement or not. Crawford decided that up for us. If there is testimonial [sic] there has to be confrontation. If there is not, there doesn't. In Davis -- the Court talked about the nontestimonial statements in terms of an emergency and detailing an ongoing emergency. [...]

The 911 calls are those dealing with the ongoig emergency where the primary purpose is to meet that emergency and anything past that becomes testimonial. [...] As far as Crawford goes, I think that is a nontestimonial statement. [...] This call was made within a short time period of this alleged call to her and the purpose of it was to seek emergency help to get ahold of her daughter. She can't get ahold of her daughter and she is worried about her daughter and that is why she is calling. It's an ongoing emergency.

I then move through the levels of hearsay. Frankly, I don't think this is hearsay; the actual statement to Ms. M... I think you are offering that she felt threatened or this was a threat to her, not the truth of the actual statement. [...]

If it is hearsay, it comes in as an admission to a party opponent to the extent it's alleging coming from Mr. Salaam. I know we don't have a voice ID and we don't know for a fact that it's him, but that is the allegation.

The next level of hearsay is Ms. M. to the dispatcher. The dispatcher talked about how she called within 20 minutes of it occurring and that she was clearly concerned enough for her daughter to make that call. [...] I think that does fall within the present tense [sic] impression. [...]

The last level is the report itself. I think that clearly falls within a business record exception. We have got the person who actually recorded it, not just a person saying the CAD kept in the regular course of business and I wrote this with the call and this is what I entereed and this is how we keep -- this is what we do.

Id. at 24-28.

The State further indicated it intended to offer the three telephone calls from Mr. Salaam to T.A. Mr. Salaam objected to the second of the calls in its entirety on the basis of relevance, and to other portions of the two other calls. The Court indicated it would allow portions of the call. <u>Id</u>.

At trial, the State offered the following testimony. A.P. testified that on September 19, 2011 in the early afternoon, she lived at 2629 South 13th Street in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and contacted Milwaukee police to report shots fired in her neighborhood and a gunshot hole in her vehicle parked in front of her home. [R.77:86-98] She noted that when she heard the shots fired she looked out her window and saw two young white women standing outside screaming. One of them said "I am not afraid of him," and the other said "Come on let's go." After a few minutes, they walked away. Milwaukee Police Officer Matthew Vega testified that he was dispatched on September 19, 2011 to the area of 2629 South 13th Street in Milwaukee to take a report of a car struck by gunfire. [R.78:67-70] He identified A.P.'s vehicle as the object of his report.

C.R. testified that on September 19, 2011 in the early afternoon she contacted the Milwaukee Police Department about shots fired in the area of 2634 South 13th Street in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. [R.78:7-21] She testified she was on 13th Street between Cleveland and Harrison when she observed a tan SUV travel south on 13th Street, nearly hit her own vehicle, and make a u-turn. She observed a sole occupant in the vehicle, the driver, duck down and fire two gunshots in the general direction of three white women on the opposite side of the street.

A.R. testified that on September 19, 2011 in the early afternoon she contacted Milwaukee Police Department regarding shots fired at her and her sister T.A. and friend K. H. [R.78:30-44] A.R. testified that on September 19, 2011 she was in the vicinity of South 13th Street and Cleveland Street in Milwaukee, Wisconsin with her friend K.H. walking back home from Aldi and met up with her sister T.A. on the bridge at 13th and Cleveland. While talking, T.A. yelled "there's Gary." A.R. testified she knew Mr.

Salaam through her sister and identified him in open court. At that time, she saw Mr. Salaam's gold Jeep pull up and saw Mr. Salaam's face and heard his gun cock, and her sister began to run south and she and K.H. went north. A.R. testified she heard two shots fired. After the incident, A.R. testified that T.A. was very scared and wanted to go home right away. Over objection, A.R. testified that T.A. told her that the shooter was Gary and that she had to go home before he found her again. A.R. testified she was hit by something because she had a slight burn mark and burning sensation on her right calf.

K.H. testified that on September 19, 2011 she was with A.R. in the vicinity of South 13th Street in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. [R.78:53-65] In the early afternoon, she and A.R. were returning from a trip to Aldi and were on the bridge on 13th Street heading north, and met T.A. on the bridge. While talking on the bridge, A.R. and T.A. said "there's Gary, oh my gosh, run." K.H. testified she saw a gold Explorer driving toward them, complete a u-turn, and she heard two shots. The Explorer drove off. K.H. testified she did not know Mr. Salaam; however, she did see the gun in the window of the Explorer. She testified she felt something burn on her shoulders, and believed she had been hit with shrapnel or ricochet. She testified she split off from A.R. and T.A., returned to her home, and contacted police.

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