RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-16-2015**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2014AP2666-CR & 2014AP2667-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GARY ABDULLAH SALAAM,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorney for the Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797/(608) 266-9594 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

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

Standard of review. The decision to admit or exclude evidence rests within the circuit court's discretion. State v. Warbelton, 2009 WI 6, ¶ 17, 315 Wis. 2d 253, 759 N.W.2d 557. An appellate court will only reverse a decision to admit or exclude evidence when the circuit court has erroneously

exercised its discretion. Id. An appellate court will not find an erroneous exercise of discretion if the record contains a reasonable basis for the circuit court's ruling. $State\ v$. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, ¶ 21, 236 Wis. 2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629.

2. The circuit court correctly concluded that K.M.'s out-of-court statement was admissible.

The circuit court's decision properly admitted K.M.'s out-of-court statement through Brunner.

K.M.'s out-of-court statement was properly authenticated. Salaam contends that K.M.'s statement was not admissible because the State did not properly authenticate it. Relying on Nischke v. Farmers & Merchants Bank, 187 Wis. 2d 96, 106, 522 N.W.2d 542 (Ct. App. 1994), Salaam asserts that statements of self-identification are not, by themselves, sufficient to identify the speaker. Salaam's brief at 25. But Salaam's case is readily distinguishable from Nischke.

First, K.M.'s call falls within one of the examples for the authentication and identification that conforms to Wis. Stat. § 909.01's requirements. Under Wis. Stat. § 909.015(6)(b),

Telephone conversations, by evidence that a call was made to the number assigned at the time by the telecommunications company to a particular person or business, if:

. . . .

(b) In the case of a business, the call was made to a place of business and the conversation related to business reasonably transacted over the telephone.

K.M.'s call to the Milwaukee Police Department fits within this exception. The department provides public safety services to the public and has created a system to record and document calls from citizens to it. K.M.'s call related to business reasonably transacted over the telephone. Brunner properly documented information related to K.M.'s call including the nature of the complaint and the persons involved (2666CR:24:1-2).

K.M.'s call also had other indicia of reliability that the court find that to authentication requirements had been satisfied. First, the public would generally understand that telephone calls to the police are recorded and are traceable. The caller's number came up on the dispatcher's screen (77:9). Second, an individual who provides false information is subject to prosecution. State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶¶ 69, 75-77, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 NW2d 106 (Prosser, concurring) (describing the Milwaukee 911 system, the information it captures, and the potential for prosecution for a false report). Third, while Brunner spoke to K.M., Brunner confirmed that K.M.'s call related to another call that occurred on Cleveland Avenue (77:6, 12). The shooting incident occurred on 13th Street, between Harrison and Cleveland earlier in the day (78:8).

Based on this record, the circuit court could reasonably conclude that the State had properly authenticated K.M.'s out-of-court statement as memorialized in the CAD report.

The admissibility of K.M.'s out-of-court statement. Brunner's testimony about K.M.'s out-of-court statement was admissible on several different grounds. First, the circuit court concluded that K.M.'s statement was not hearsay at all because it was not offered to show the truth of any matter in the statement. Rather, it was offered to show K.M.'s perception that the call was threatening (77:25).

Second, even if K.M.'s out-of-court statement was hearsay, it was admissible as a present sense impression. It was a present sense impression because it documented K.M.'s statement concerning an event (Salaam's call and

K.M.'s inability to get a hold of her daughter) made immediately after the event (within twenty minutes).⁷

K.M.'s out-of-court statement was also admissible as a record of a regularly conducted activity. Brunner's CAD report itself constitutes a detailed record of a regularly conducted activity of the police department because it documents events (K.M.'s call) as K.M. is speaking to Brunner (77:16). To the extent that K.M. restated Salaam's comments, Salaam's statement constituted an admission of a party opponent and was not hearsay.

The circuit court's determination of the admissibility of K.M.'s out-of-court statement is not clearly erroneous. This Court should affirm its decision.

E. Any error in admitting K.M.'s out-of-court statement was harmless.

The admission of inadmissible evidence is subject to the harmless error rule, under which the reviewing court will reverse only if there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. See State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 542-43, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). "An error is harmless if there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the outcome of the trial." State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 62, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838.

At trial, Salaam claimed that he was not present when someone in a gold colored SUV shot in the direction of T.A. and the other women (80:54). The State presented

⁷ The State also sought to introduce K.M.'s out-of-court statement as an excited utterance (2666CR:24:2-3). An excited utterance relates to a startling event and must be made while the declarant is under the stress of the event. Wis. Stat. § 908.03(2). Because the circuit court was unable to ascertain K.M.'s demeanor (77:26), the State does not advance the excited utterance argument on appeal.

significant additional evidence over and apart from K.M.'s out-of-court statement linking Salaam to the shooting.

T.A. testified that she had lived with Salaam for approximately a year, but had separated within the weeks before September 19, 2011 (78:91). On September 19, T.A. stopped to talk to her sister, A.R., and K.H. on a bridge on 13th Street (78:93, 98). Salaam drove past them in a gold Jeep Cherokee, made a U-turn, and approached where the women were. T.A. started running. (78:99-100). T.A. saw a black handgun in Salaam's hands (78:102). Salaam stopped the car. The driver's window was down. And Salaam shot at them (78:103). T.A. heard at least three shots and believed that Salaam shot two at her (78:101, 104).

A.R. testified that on September 19, 2011, A.R. and a friend, K.H., were on the 13th Street Bridge near Cleveland Avenue (78:31). While on the bridge, they stopped to talk to A.R.'s sister, T.A. (78:37-38). T.A. yelled, "there's Gary." A.R. saw Salaam's gold Jeep pull up. The window was open and she saw his face. The women ran when A.R. heard Salaam's gun cock (78:38). A.R. saw Salaam pull a gun and point it out the window (78:41). He pointed the gun in in the direction of T.A., A.R., and K.H. (78:42). A.R. heard two shots fired from the gun (78:39). A.R. testified that T.A. was scared and told A.R. that "that was Gary and that she had to go home before he found her again" (78:40). A.R. believed that she was hit by something because she had a burning sensation on her calf and a small burn mark (78:43).

K.H. testified that she was with A.R. when they stopped to speak to T.A. on the bridge (78:57-58). She then heard A.R. and T.A. say, "here comes Gary" and "run" (78:58). As she was running, K.H. saw a gold SUV like an Explorer whip around on the bridge and then she heard two or three shots. The guy in the car had a gun. She also felt burning on her shoulders where she got hit by a ricochet (78:59-60). The driver was shooting at someone "like he was gonna kill somebody" (78:65).

T.A. testified that she was with Salaam when the police pulled them over on November 3, 2011 (78:107-08). They were in a gold Jeep Cherokee. Salaam was taken into custody (79:23). T.A. identified the gold Jeep as Salaam's. She said that the gold Jeep that police pulled them over in was the same Jeep that Salaam was driving the day he shot at her (79:26).

Finally, as discussed in Section II. D. above, Salaam made three telephone calls to T.A. before the preliminary hearing to dissuade T.A. and A.R. from appearing in court (79:25, 42). T.A. failed to appear at the scheduled hearing (79:41).

The State presented substantial evidence connecting Salaam to the shooting. There is no reasonable probability that any error in admitting K.M.'s out-of-court statement contributed to Salaam's conviction. Any error in admitting this evidence was harmless.

IV. Salaam is not entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice because Salaam's due process right to present a defense did not include the right to cross-examine the victim, T.A., about information contained in Children's Court records about her mental health.

A. Salaam's claim and its related procedural history.

Salaam claims that the circuit court deprived him of the opportunity to present a defense. He contends that the circuit should have permitted him to introduce evidence that T.A.'s allegedly paranoid and delusional tendencies undermined her credibility. As a result, he contends that this Court should grant him a new trial in the interest of justice. Salaam's brief at 26-29.

The State disagrees. The record demonstrates that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it declined to allow Salaam to introduce information about T.A.'s mental health.

Salaam filed a *Shiffra-Green*⁸ motion seeking access to T.A.'s mental health records. As grounds for his motion, he alleged that T.A. suffered from "paranoia and delusions" (18:1). The circuit court denied the motion. It reasoned that the presence of third-party witness and other corroborating evidence undercut the Salaam's assertion that T.A. made up a claim about the shooting incident out of paranoia or a delusion (68:25-26).

Salaam subsequently came into possession of certain Children's Court records. He requested the circuit court to examine the records in camera because the information reflects on T.A.'s credibility. He also asked that he be allowed to inquire into the subject matter of the records during his cross-examination of Salaam (24:1).

Following the circuit court's review of the records, it denied Salaam's motion. It rejected the argument that T.A.'s belief that Salaam was a drug dealer was delusional (73:6). The circuit court noted that while someone may experience delusions associated with drug use or other mental health issues, it does not mean that they were suffering from those delusions at the time of the offense (73:7-8). The circuit court found that the records it reviewed did not necessarily established T.A.'s mental condition at the time of Salaam's crimes (73:9). Finally, it also found that discussion of T.A.'s mental health would be potentially prejudicial because it would sidetrack the jury from the trial issues (73:9). The circuit court did allow Salaam to inquire into T.A.'s substance use at the time of the offense as that would impact her credibility and ability to perceive the incident (73:8).

⁸ See State v. Shiffra, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993); State v. Green, 2002 WI 68, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298.

B. General legal principles related to the right to present a defense and interest of justice claims.

1. The due process right to present a defense.

The right to present a defense is grounded in the confrontation and compulsory process clauses of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis.2d 633, 645, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990). Confrontation and compulsory process only grant a defendant constitutional right to present relevant evidence not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Id at 646. A court may exclude irrelevant and evidence otherwise inadmissible under the rules of evidence without violating a defendant's right to present defense. a State Muckerheide, 2007 WI 5, ¶40, 298 Wis. 2d 553, 725 N.W.2d 930. Unless a court applies the rules of evidence in an manner arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes that the rules serve, application of the rules does not abridge a the right to present a defense. State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50, ¶52, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777.

Standard of review. A circuit court errs if it exercises its discretion to admit or exclude evidence in a manner that deprives a defendant of the constitutional right to present a defense. St. George, 252 Wis. 2d 499, ¶49. Whether a circuit court's evidentiary ruling implicates a defendant's right to present a defense is a question of constitutional fact that this Court independently reviews. State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, ¶47, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52.

2. New trials in the interest of justice.

Wisconsin Stat. § 752.35 confers discretionary authority upon the court of appeals to review an otherwise waived error, reverse a judgment and order a new trial in the interest of justice. See Vollmer v. Luety, 156 Wis. 2d 1,

17-19, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). But a court should exercise this discretionary authority "infrequently and judiciously," only in "exceptional cases." *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶ 38, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60 (citations omitted).

A court may grant discretionary reversal if it determines that "the jury was erroneously denied the opportunity to hear important, relevant evidence while other evidence was erroneously admitted . . . [E]rroneous denial of relevant evidence refers to a legal evidentiary error by the circuit court." *State v. Burns*, 2011 WI 22, ¶ 45, 332 Wis. 2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

C. The circuit court properly limited Salaam's inquiry into T.A.'s mental health.

Salaam claims that the circuit court deprived him of the opportunity to fully challenge T.A.'s credibility based on the assertion that drug abuse and mental illness affected T.A.'s perceptions. Salaam's brief at 26-27.

Salaam does not cite any material in the record that undermines the circuit court's findings. He cannot. The Children's Court records that the circuit court reviewed are not part of the record on appeal. As the appellant, Salaam is responsible for providing this Court with a record adequate for review of the issues raised. In the absence of the Children's Court records, this Court will "presume that every fact essential to sustain the circuit court's decision is supported in the record. *Butcher v. Ameritech Corp.*, 2007 WI App 5, ¶ 35, 298 Wis. 2d 468, 727 N.W.2d 546.

The record demonstrates that the circuit court reasonably exercised its discretion based on the records before it. It recognized that Salaam wanted to attack T.A.'s credibility based on her allegedly delusional statement that Salaam was a drug dealer (73:6). The fact that T.A. may have mental health issues or was delusional at some point in

time does not mean that she was suffering from these issues at the moment of the crime (73:6-7). Absent expert witness testimony, the circuit court did not believe that there was a basis to assert that T.A. had a specific mental health condition at the time of the offense (73:8).

The circuit court also effectively excluded this evidence on legal relevance grounds. See Wis. Stat. § 904.03. The circuit court was concerned that exploration of these issues would sidetrack the jury (73:9). It did not want to conduct a trial within a trial for the purpose of determining whether T.A.'s belief that Salaam was a drug dealer was delusional or based on fact (73:7). The circuit court also wanted to avoid a testimony from experts attempting to explain when T.A. has delusions and when she does not (73:8). At best, the evidence of her delusions on other occasions was of limited relevance and did not outweigh the danger of prejudice that would flow from its admission (73:9).

The circuit court did not deny Salaam the opportunity to present a defense. It merely restricted Salaam from attacking T.A.'s credibility based on marginally relevant, but unduly prejudicial evidence. Based on this record, Salaam has not demonstrated that his case is the exceptional case that should compel this Court to exercise its discretionary authority and grant him a new trial.

D. Any error in excluding this evidence was harmless.

Any errors in precluding Salaam from impeaching T.A.'s credibility with information from the Children's Court record were harmless. The circuit court's decision did not foreclose Salaam from attacking T.A.'s credibility. Salaam cross-examined T.A. about her prior statements that she had been drinking heavily on the day of the shooting (79:27-28). He also challenged inconsistencies in T.A.'s prior statements about how she knew Salaam was the driver (79:36-37).

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